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VERIFIED PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE (CODE CIV. PROC. §§ 1085, 1094.5, AND WELF. & INST. CODE § 10962)

	
	
	


INTRODUCTION
1. The California Department of Social Services (CDSS) is the federally-mandated state agency responsible for the Food Stamp Program.  CDSS, through the individual county welfare departments and their agents, is tasked with providing Food Stamp benefits to clients eligible to receive them.   As part of its responsibilities, CDSS must ensure that counties issue timely benefits and review the information provided in all applications and recertifications to ensure that applicants and recipients are provided all the benefits that they are entitled to receive.  See Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 10500, 11004.  

2. CDSS, however, fails to meet its responsibilities towards those who have been found ineligible to participate in the program for a period of time after committing an intentional program violation (IPV).  This case challenges CDSS’s failure to ensure that counties add previously disqualified family members to the Food Stamp household the month after the ineligibility period ends.  Petitioner Lopez was eligible for Food Stamp benefits after her IPV ended, but her benefits never resumed.  Over the course of four years, Petitioner Lopez submitted five applications requesting Food Stamp benefits for both herself and her children.  Although she received food stamps for her children, she did not receive any benefits for herself during those four years.  Ms. Lopez never received a Notice of Action indicating that she was denied benefits or an explanation as to the reason for her exclusion.  

3. Through this action, Petitioner seeks a Writ of Mandate ordering CDSS to administer California’s Food Stamp Program in accordance with the mandates of law.  Petitioner Lopez also seeks a writ of administrative mandate overturning Respondent Wagner’s 
decision that her recertifications were not requests for restoration of aid.
PARTIES

Petitioner Morayma Lopez
4. Morayma Lopez is a 32-year-old resident of Alameda County (“County”) and a single mother of five children.  Ms. Lopez is disabled due to mental health conditions, for which she has been receiving treatment since approximately 2002.  Ms. Lopez was entitled to food stamp benefits from July 2004 to May 2008.   Currently, she receives food stamp benefits for herself and her five children.
Respondents

5. Respondent John A. Wagner is the Director of Respondent CDSS.  He is sued in his official capacity.  Respondent Wagner’s duties include the enforcement, operation, and execution of laws pertaining to the administration of the Food Stamp Program.  Respondent Wagner’s responsibilities also include enforcing state laws and regulations to ensure that various county welfare departments (CWDs) execute the regulations in a uniform and consistent manner. Welf. & Inst. Code § 10553.

6. Respondent CDSS is the single state agency responsible for overseeing the administration of California’s Food Stamp Program, and for ensuring that each county complies with state laws and regulations relating to the Food Stamp Program. In particular, Respondent CDSS is responsible for guaranteeing the timely and accurate issuance of benefits. Welf. & Inst. Code § 10600; see also Welf. & Inst. Code 10603.

///

///

APPLICABLE LAW
Food Stamp Program

7. The Supplemental Nutrition Food Stamp Program is a federal nutrition program that helps eligible low-income people purchase the food they need for good health.  The program’s stated purpose is to “promote the general welfare and to safeguard the health and well being of the Nation’s population by raising the levels of nutrition among low-income households.”  7 U.S.C. § 2011, 7 C.F.R. § 271.1(a).  The California Legislature has mandated that California operate a statewide program to enable “low-income households to receive Food Stamps under the federal Food Stamp Program.”  Welf. & Inst. Code § 18900.  To that end, the Legislature has mandated that when a person submits an application for aid, the county has a duty to review the information provided carefully to ensure that the applicant is provided all the benefits that she or he is entitled to receive.  See Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 10500, 11004.  California must provide public benefits to eligible recipients “promptly and humanely.”  Welf. & Inst. Code § 10000.  

CDSS Responsibilities
8. In California, the Food Stamp Program is developed and supervised by CDSS. See generally, Welf. & Inst. Code § 18900 et seq., specifically, §§§ 18901.5, 18901.8 & 18902.  CDSS develops Food Stamp regulations and issues rules and letters related to the program. Welf. & Inst. Code § 18901.8 & 18902.  Although each CWD is responsible for carrying out the local administrative responsibilities set forth in Food Stamp Chapter of the Welfare and Institutions Code, local administration is “subject to the supervision of [CDSS] and to rules and regulations adopted by [CDSS].” Welf. & Inst. Code § 18902.  
The Director of CDSS is responsible for bringing actions to ensure the counties’ compliance.  Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 10600 & 10605.

Duty To Timely Issue Benefits

9. Subject to certain exceptions, Food Stamps are delivered once a month, and at most every 40 days. CDSS Manual of Policies and Procedures (MPP) § 63-602.4 et seq. Any delay in the delivery of benefits beyond statutory and regulatory deadlines is a violation of this statutory mandate.  Welf. & Inst. Code § 11004; MPP § 63-601.11.  After a household is determined to be eligible to receive Food Stamp benefits, the CWD must certify the household to receive benefits for a specific period of time.  MPP § 63-504.1.  To continue to receive Food Stamp benefits thereafter, recipients must reapply for the program.  

The Recertification Process

10.  As part of the recertification process, the county must provide a recipient with notice that his or her certification period is about to expire.  Notice must be served by the end of the month preceding the termination month.  MPP § 63-504.251.  After receiving the notice, the recipient must file a recertification application no fewer than 15 days before the expiration of the certification period listed in the notice.  MPP §63-504.61(c). As part of the recertification process, the recipient must also submit a Statement of Facts.  MPP § 63-604.61. The CWD must complete the application process and approve or deny a timely application for recertification prior to the end of the household's current certification period.  MPP § 63-504.61.  If CWD fails to provide benefits in a timely manner to an eligible household that filed a timely application for recertification, then the CWD has committed an administrative error, and the household is entitled to restoration of lost benefits if, as a result of such error, the household was unable to participate for the 
month following the expiration of the certification period.  MPP § 63-504.61(j)

Restoration of Benefits

11. Individuals who have committed an intentional program violation are ineligible to participate in the Food Stamp Program for a specified period of time. 7 C.F.R. §273.16 (b), MPP §§ 20-300 et seq., 63-805.1.  The rest of the household, however, remains eligible to receive benefits.  7 C.F.R. § 273.16 (b)(11); MPP § 20-300.35.  

12. The previously excluded member who was disqualified for an intentional program violation must be added back to the food stamp household the month after the disqualification period ends.  7 C.F.R. § 273.21; MPP § 63-504.353(b)(1).  State regulations, however, are silent as to how a person requests to be added back to the household’s grant after the disqualification period ends if the county does not automatically make the change.  
13. The CWD must restore a household’s benefits if the benefits were lost due to administrative error.  MPP § 63-802.111.    According to MPP § 63-802.12, a household’s right to recoup wrongfully withheld benefits is triggered when: (a) the welfare department receives a request for restoration from the household; or (b) the welfare department is notified or otherwise discovers that a loss to a household has occurred.  Benefits will be restored for only 12 months prior to the earlier date of either event listed above.  MPP § 63-802.12.  If CWD determines that there was a loss, it will automatically restore benefits.  MPP §63-802.3.   Benefits will not be restored, however, if (a) through the normal course of business CWD discovers that a loss occurred more than 12 months prior to the date of discovery, or (b) that the loss occurred more than 12 months before the CWD was notified in writing or orally of a possible loss to a
 household.  MPP § 63-802.3.
STATEMENT OF FACTS
14. In 2003, Morayma Lopez was receiving Food Stamp benefits for herself and three children.  On June 17, 2003, she received a Notice of Action informing her that she was disqualified from receiving food stamp benefits for one year from July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 due to an IPV. She continued to receive benefits, however, for her children.  The disqualification period ended on June 30, 2004. When the disqualification period ended, the County did not reinstate Ms. Lopez’s food stamp benefits.  She did not receive a Notice of Action indicating that the IPV period ended or an explanation of steps she needed to take to have her food stamps restored.   

15. On or about October 6, 2004, Ms. Lopez submitted a food stamp recertification for benefits for her four children and herself.  She received benefits for her children, but none for herself.  She received no Notice of Action informing her that she was denied benefits or explanation for her exclusion.  Thereafter, she continued to submit annual recertification applications for food stamp benefits for herself and her children.  She submitted annual written reapplications for herself and her children on or about June 16, 2005, May 17, 2006, February 20, 2007, February 14, 2008, and finally, on November 18, 2008.  Each time after completing the recertification/application process, Ms. Lopez was awarded food stamp benefits for her children, but not for herself.  She never received any Notice of Action that she was denied food stamps.  Ms. Lopez did not receive food stamps from July 2004 through May 2008—nearly four years.

16. Ms. Lopez filed a hearing request with Respondent on June 30, 2009.  Before the hearing, 
the County conceded that Ms. Lopez was eligible for food stamps from July 2004 forward, and that due to its own administrative errors she was never been added back to the food stamps household.  However, the County agreed only to restore her food stamps to the prior 12 months, back to June 2008.  Ms. Lopez proceeded with her appeal for the restoration of her food stamp benefits from July 2004 to May 2008, but did not prevail.  See ALJ Decision dated 10/22/09, attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
17. The Administrative Law Judge acknowledged that the County made long-standing errors in Ms. Lopez’s case by failing to add her back to the food stamp household at the end of her ineligibility period.  The Administrative Law Judge went on to note that, “[t]here is no question that equitably [Ms. Lopez] was harmed by the county’s inaction in that for four years she did not receive food stamp benefits that she was otherwise entitled to receive.” Id.  Despite the obvious errors and Petitioner’s entitlement to benefits, the Administrative Law Judge sustained the County’s denial of Ms. Lopez’s request for restoration of benefits for the period of July 2004 to May 2008.  The Administrative Law Judge’s decision was adopted by Respondent Wagner on October 22, 2009.  
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Writ of Mandate Under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1085 for 
Violation of CDSS Manual of Policies and Procedures Section 63-504 
(Failure to Add Previously Ineligible Members to the Household after an IPV ends.))
18. Petitioner realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in the above paragraphs.
19. Respondents have a clear and present duty to administer the Food Stamp Program in 
accordance with state law.

20. Respondent CDSS is the single state agency responsible for administering the Food Stamp Program.  Welf. & Inst. Code § 10600 & 10605.

21. Respondents have a duty to ensure that the individual counties, as Respondents’ agents, comply with the laws and regulations pertaining to all public benefits programs administered by CDSS.  Welf. & Inst. Code §10605(a).

22. Federal law provides that CDSS “shall add a previously excluded member who was disqualified for an intentional program violation . . . to the household the month after the disqualification period ends.”  7 C.F.R. § 273.21(f)(1)(iv).

23. CWDs must add previously disqualified individuals to the food stamp household the month after the period of ineligibility due to an IPV ends. MPP § 63-504.353(b)(1).

24. On information and belief, Respondents, through their agents, fail to add previously disqualified individuals to the food stamp household the month after the disqualification period ends.  

25. Petitioner is entitled to a writ of mandate under California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1085 enjoining Respondents’ refusal to ensure that individual counties comply with the laws and regulations pertaining to all public benefits programs administered by CDSS.  Specifically, Petitioner is entitled to a writ of mandate instructing CDSS to comply with Welfare and Institutions Code Section 10605(a) and actively ensure that individual counties add previously disqualified family members to the Food Stamp household the month after the disqualification period ends.

26. At all times relevant to this action, Respondents have had the ability to fulfill their duties under the law.

27. Written demand was made upon the Respondents to perform their duties.  In contravention of the laws and the demand made upon them Respondents have failed and refused to perform their duties mandated by law.  A true and correct copy of the written demand made upon Respondents is attached as Exhibit B and incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

28. Petitioner is beneficially interested in Respondents’ performance of their duties.

29. Petitioner has no plain, speedy and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law.  Unless the Court grants the relief requested, Respondents will continue to fail and refuse to perform their legal duties, to the immediate and ongoing harm of the Petitioner.

30. No money damages or other legal remedies can adequately compensate Petitioner for the hardship caused by Respondents’ failure and refusal to perform their legal duties.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Writ of Mandate Under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1085 for 
Violation of Welfare and Institutions Code Sections 10500 and 11004 
(Failure to Review Applications for All Benefits))

31. Petitioner realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in the above paragraphs.

32. Respondents have a clear and present duty to administer the Food Stamp Program in accordance with state law, and to ensure that individuals who apply for and are eligible for Food Stamp benefits receive those benefits. Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 10600 & 10605.

33. Respondents have a duty to ensure that the individual counties, as Respondents’ agents, comply with the laws and regulations pertaining to all public benefits programs administered by CDSS.  Welf. & Inst. Code §10605(a).

34. Respondents have a clear, present and ministerial duty to ensure that when counties receive applications for aid, the county reviews the information provided carefully to 
ensure that the applicant is provided all the benefits that she or he is entitled to receive.  
See Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 10500, 11004.
35. On information and belief, Respondents, through their agents, fail to review applications by previously disqualified household members for all the aid that they may be entitled to during the recertification process.

36. Petitioner is entitled to a writ of mandate under California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1085 enjoining Respondents’ refusal to ensure that individual counties comply with the laws and regulations pertaining to all public benefits programs administered by CDSS.  Specifically, Petitioner is entitled to a writ of mandate instructing CDSS to comply with Welfare and Institutions Code Section 10500 and actively ensure that individual counties review each application that a previously disqualified person submits for aid for all benefits that she or he is entitled to receive.

37. At all times relevant to this action, Respondents have had the ability to fulfill their duties under the law.

38. Written demand was made upon the Respondents to perform their duties.  In contravention of the laws and the demand made upon them Respondents have failed and refused to perform their duties mandated by law.  A true and correct copy of the written demand made upon Respondents is attached as Exhibit B and incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

39. Petitioner is beneficially interested in Respondents’ performance of their duties.

40. Petitioner has no plain, speedy and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law.  Unless the Court grants the relief requested, Respondents will continue to fail and refuse 
to perform their legal duties, to the immediate and ongoing harm of the Petitioner.

41. No money damages or other legal remedies can adequately compensate Petitioner for the hardship caused by Respondents’ failure and refusal to perform their legal duties.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(Writ of Mandate Under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.5
and Welfare & Institutions Code Section 10962)

42. Petitioner realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in the above paragraphs.

43. Respondent Wagner abused his discretion by (1) failing to restore Ms. Lopez’s food stamp benefits from July 2004 to May 2008, and (2) ignoring Ms. Lopez’s repeated applications for aid and requests for restoration of aid.  Respondent also abused his discretion by failing to consider Ms. Lopez’s multiple recertifications/applications as requests for restoration of aid because Respondent CDSS does not have a policy or procedure for a previously disqualified person to request restoration of benefits.

44. The abuse of discretion is prejudicial to Petitioner in that (1) she was entitled to benefits but never received them, and (2) she had no other way of requesting restoration of aid.

45. Petitioner has exhausted all of her administrative remedies.  The writ of mandate requested herein is Ms. Lopez’s sole and exclusive remedy for review of Respondent Wagner’s decision, and there are no alternative remedies at law.

RELIEF REQUESTED
WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court:

46. Issue a writ of administrative mandate overturning Respondent Wagner’s decision that Ms. Lopez’s recertifications/applications were not requests for restoration of aid and reversing Respondent Wagner’s denial of benefits Ms. Lopez’s for the period of July 2004 to May 2008.
47. Issue a writ of mandamus under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1085 directing Respondent CDSS to comply with Welfare and Institutions Code Section 10605(a) and actively ensure that individual counties add previously disqualified family members to the Food Stamp household the month after the disqualification period ends.
48. Issue a writ of mandamus under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1085 directing Respondent CDSS to comply with Welfare and Institutions Code Section 10500 and actively ensure that individual counties review each application that a disqualified person submits for aid for all benefits that the applicant may be entitled to receive.

49. Grant Petitioner reasonable costs of suit.
50. Grant reasonable attorneys’ fees to Petitioner’s counsel Western Center on Law and Poverty and Bay Area Legal Aid. 

51. Issue other relief that is just and proper.
DATED:  October 19, 2010

WESTERN CENTER ON LAW AND POVERTY
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By:_______________________________________  

ANTIONETTE DOZIER
Attorneys for Petitioner 

MORAYMA LOPEZ




VERIFICATION

I, Morayma Lopez, state that I have reviewed the foregoing Petition and that I certify that the factual allegations contained therein are true to the best of my knowledge.  I declare under penalty of perjury that the statements made therein are true and correct except those made on information and belief, and as to those statements, I believe them to be true.  


Executed at Oakland, California on October 21, 2010.







________________________________







Morayma Lopez, Petitioner


[REMINDER RE EXHIBITS TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE]

Exhibit A

See ALJ Decision dated 10/22/09, attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

Exhibit B

A true and correct copy of the written demand made upon Respondents is attached as Exhibit B and incorporated as if fully set forth herein.
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